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Jeffrey M. Ratinoff, CA Bar No. 197241
(has complied with LR IA 11-2) 
jratinoff@spencerfane.com 
Jing H. Cherng, CA Bar No. 265017 
(has complied with LR IA 11-2) 
gcherng@spencerfane.com  
SPENCER FANE LLP 
225 W. Santa Clara St., Suite 1500 
San Jose, CA  95113-2406 
T 408.286.5100 
F 408.286.5722 

Mary E. Bacon, NV Bar No. 12686 
SPENCER FANE LLP 
300 South Fourth Street, Suite 950 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
T 702.408.3400 
F 702.938.8648 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Franklin Armory Inc. and  
Franklin Armory Holdings Inc. 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

FRANKLIN ARMORY INC., a Nevada 
Corporation; and FRANKLIN ARMORY 
HOLDINGS INC., a Nevada Corporation, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

NO B.S. ACCESSORIES CO., a Georgia 
corporation; and RICKY CHESTER 
KIPFMILLER d/b/a UNK’S GUNS, a sole 
proprietorship, 

Defendants. 

CASE NO. 2:24-cv-01395 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT 
INFRINGEMENT 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Case 2:24-cv-01395   Document 1   Filed 07/30/24   Page 1 of 114



- 1 -
 COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Plaintiffs Franklin Armory Holdings Inc. and Franklin Armory Inc. (collectively 

“Plaintiffs” or “Franklin”), by and through their attorneys of record, hereby file this Complaint 

for Patent Infringement against Defendants No B.S. Accessories Co. and Ricky Chester 

Kipfmiller d/b/a Unk’s Guns (collectively, “Defendants”): 

THE PARTIES 

1. Plaintiff Franklin Armory Holdings Inc. (“FAHI”) is a corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of the State of Nevada with its principal place of business in Minden, 

Nevada. 

2. Like FAHI, Plaintiff Franklin Armory Inc. (“FAI”) is a corporation organized and 

existing under the laws of the State of Nevada with its principal place of business in Minden, 

Nevada.  FAI is a wholly owned subsidiary of FAHI and specializes in manufacturing firearms 

and firearm accessories for sporting, military, and law enforcement applications.  FAI also 

specializes in selling creative firearms and firearms accessories and parts, including its Binary® 

and Binary Firing System® fire control and trigger products. 

3. Franklin is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that Defendant No 

B.S. Accessories Co. (“NBSA”) is a Georgia corporation with its principal place of business at 94 

Oakwood Drive, Dahlonega, GA 30533.   Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true and correct copy 

of the annual registration for NBSA filed with the Secretary of State of Georgia on or about 

February 18, 2024. 

4. Franklin is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that Defendant Ricky 

Chester Kipfmiller is an individual residing in Dahlonega, Georgia, and has done and is doing 

business as “Unk’s Guns” (collectively, “Unk’s Guns”) with a principal place of business at 94 

Oakwood Drive, Dahlonega, GA 30533. 

5. Franklin is further informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that NBSA and 

Unk’s Guns have at all relevant times been owned, operated, and controlled by Defendant Ricky 

Chester Kipfmiller. 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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ALTER EGO ALLEGATIONS 

6. Franklin is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that at all times 

herein mentioned there existed a unity of interest and ownership between Defendants NBSA and 

Unk’s Guns.  Any individuality and separateness between NBSA and Unk’s Guns ceased and/or 

never existed, and NBSA is the alter ego of Unk’s Guns, and vice versa, in that, among other 

reasons, NBSA was conceived, intended, and used by Unk’s Guns as a device to avoid liability 

and that NBSA is so inadequately capitalized that, compared with the business done by NBSA 

and the risk of loss attendant thereon, such capitalization was illusory and/or trifling. 

7. On information and belief, NBSA is wholly owned, operated, and controlled by 

Unk’s Guns in a manner that ignores normal corporate formalities.  Franklin is further informed 

and believes, and based thereon alleges, that at all times herein mentioned that NBSA is a mere 

shell instrumentality maintained by Unk’s Guns and carries on its business exactly as Unk’s Guns 

had done so previous to NBSA’s formation, exercises complete control and dominance of the 

business done by NBSA to such an extent that any individuality or separateness of Unk’s Guns 

and NBSA at all times herein mentioned did and do not exist.   

8. For example, Unk’s Guns and NBSA share the same employees and principal 

place of business at 94 Oakwood Drive, Dahlonega, GA 30533.  Likewise, they share the same 

primary contact information, including the business telephone number 770-634-0635 and email 

address rkipfm@gmail.com as evidenced by their respective websites.  Attached hereto as 

Exhibit B is a true and correct copy of a July 9, 2024, screen capture of Unk’s Guns’ website, 

https://unksguns.com/.  Attached hereto as Exhibit C is a true and correct copy of a July 9, 2024, 

screen capture of NBSA’s website, https://nobsaccessories.com/.   

9. As demonstrated by their respective webpages, they collectively make, use, sell, 

and offer to sell the same three-position “Fires on Pull and Release” (“FOPAR”) trigger group for 

use in civilian legal AR-15 pattern firearms. See, e.g., Exhibits B–C.  Franklin is informed and 

believes, and on and that basis alleges, that Unk’s Guns has owned and controlled these websites, 

and that Unk’s Guns authorized NBSA to act on its behalf and NBSA agreed to act as Unk’s 

Guns’ agent in the making, use, selling, and offering to sell the FOPAR trigger group.   
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10. On information and belief, Unk’s Guns and NBSA operate as a single business 

that makes, uses, sells and offers to sell the FOPAR trigger group, among other things.  For 

example, Defendants’ respective websites allow customers to place orders for the FOPAR trigger 

group by calling the same telephone number, 770-634-0635. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11. The jurisdiction of this Court over the subject matter of this action is predicated, 

pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271 and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, on the fact that Franklin presents a civil action 

for patent infringement.  

12. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because, on information and 

belief, Defendants’ employees reside and work in the State of Nevada and this Judicial District, 

and because Defendants maintain a place of business in Las Vegas, Nevada and regularly do 

business in Nevada.  Upon information and belief, Defendants offer their products throughout 

Nevada and this Judicial District, by shipping, distributing, offering for sale, selling, and 

advertising such products through their websites.  See, e.g., Exhibits B–C. 

13. This action arises out of wrongful acts committed by Defendants in Nevada and 

this Judicial District, which acts subject Defendants to the personal jurisdiction of this Court.  

Franklin is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants specifically target 

consumers and derive substantial revenue within Nevada and this District, and expects its actions 

to have consequences within Nevada and this District.  Defendants have also purposefully availed 

themselves of the privilege of conducting business within the State of Nevada, including by 

employing residents of the State of Nevada to act on their behalf, and processing, fulfilling, 

shipping orders for their infringing products within the State of Nevada, and participating in gun 

shows to sell their infringing products. 

14. Venue is proper in the District of Nevada pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1400.  As 

alleged below, Defendant has committed acts of infringement within this District and has a 

regular and established place of business within this District as alleged herein.  

15. On information and belief, at least as early as December 2022, Defendants have 

maintained a regular place of business and employed persons residing in the State of Nevada.  In 

Case 2:24-cv-01395   Document 1   Filed 07/30/24   Page 4 of 114



- 4 -
 COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

particular, Jason Kipfmiller, who is listed as the Secretary of NBSA, is also employed by and/or 

acts as an agent on behalf of Defendants in Las Vegas, Nevada.  See Exhibits A–B.   

16. On information and belief, Madison Kipfmiller and/or Madison Hooey has been 

employed by and/or acts as an agent on behalf of Defendants in Las Vegas, Nevada.  See Exhibit 

B.  Defendants employ and/or have delegated authority to these individuals to make, use, sell, and 

offer to sell the FOPAR trigger group on behalf of Defendants in the State of Nevada. 

17. Franklin is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that orders for the 

FOPAR trigger group placed via NBSA’s website are processed, fulfilled and/or shipped by 

Defendants’ employees and agents in Las Vegas, Nevada. 

18. Between August 2022 and the present, Defendants’ employees and agents have 

attended and participated in gun shows in Reno, Nevada for the express purpose of offering to sell 

and selling “Fires on Pull and Release” products to consumers and the general public. Franklin is 

informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants employees and agents have 

also participated in gun shows in Las Vegas, Nevada for the express purpose of offering to sell 

and selling “Fires on Pull and Release” products. 

THE PATENT-IN-SUIT 

19. The United States, and many jurisdictions within it, regulate the use and 

possession of fully automatic firearms, sometimes referred to as machine guns.  The National 

Firearms Act, 26 U.S.C. § 5845(b), defines a “machinegun” as “any weapon which shoots, is 

designed to shoot, or can be readily restored to shoot, automatically more than one shot, without 

manual reloading, by a single function of the trigger.” (hereafter, “Machine Gun”). 

20. The National Firearms Act, as interpreted by the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, 

Firearms, and Explosives Technology Branch (“BATFE”), defines the pull of a trigger as a 

function, and the release of the trigger as a second function.  As a result, a firearm that fires a shot 

upon the pull of a trigger and fires a second shot upon the release of a trigger may, if designed 

correctly, fall outside the Act’s definition of Machine Gun.  Thus, there exists considerable 

consumer demand for firearms equipped with this functionality (known as “pull-release firing”)  

/ / / 
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that do not fall under the BATFE’s definition of a Machine Gun, particularly in law enforcement, 

military, and sporting applications. 

21. However, firearms triggers that fired one round with a trigger pull and a second 

round with a trigger release (“pull-release” triggers) circa 2014 suffered from serious design 

flaws.  For example, many early designs required the use of multiple selector switches—one to 

alternate between firing modes and a second to provide safe functionality—in order to enable 

pull-release firing.  U.S. Patent No. 8,667,881 to Hawbacker, discloses one such implementation.  

These designs also suffered from the flaw that the lever used to alternate between semi-automatic 

and pull-release firing was typically located within the trigger guard, increasing the likelihood of 

accidentally discharging the firearm when switching between firing modes.  Additionally, early 

pull-release triggers suffered from the flaw that once the trigger was pulled in pull-release firing 

mode, the user could not place the firearm into safe mode, making it more difficult and dangerous 

to avoid firing a second shot upon release of the trigger. 

22. Recognizing the need for a new and improved trigger group for semi-automatic 

firearms with pull-release firing capability, Franklin developed a different and innovative 

alternative.  Specifically, this novel trigger system incorporates an adjustable disconnector 

assembly operably connected to a single selector outside the trigger guard, allowing the user to 

switch between safe, semi-automatic, and pull-release firing modes using that single selector.  

Franklin has obtained at least nine (9) patents covering various aspects of this innovative concept, 

including United States Patent No. 10,393,461 (“the ’461 Patent”). 

23. On March 16, 2018, Inventors Jay Jacobson and Ryan Fellows filed U.S. Patent 

Application No. 15/923,831 (“the ’831 Application”) claiming certain features of Franklin’s 

innovative pull-release trigger design.  The ’831 Application claims priority to U.S. Provisional 

Patent Application No. 62/026,621 filed on July 19, 2014.  On August 27, 2019, the United States 

Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”) duly and legally issued United States Patent No. 

10,393,461, entitled “Trigger Group for Semi-Automatic Firearms.”   

24. On March 22, 2022, the USPTO duly and legally issued an Ex Parte

Reexamination Certificate for the ’461 Patent where independent claims 1, 7-16, and 22-30 were 
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determined to be patentable as amended.  The USPTO also determined that dependent claims 2–6 

and 17–21 were patentable.  A true and correct copy of the ’461 Patent and the March 22, 2022, 

Ex Parte Reexamination Certificate for the ’461 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

25. FAHI owns all rights, title, and interest in and to the ’461 Patent.  FAHI has 

entered into a license agreement with FAI, giving FAI the right to make, use, offer to sell, and sell 

products that practice the inventions claimed by the ’461 Patent in the United States, and the right 

to enforce the ’461 Patent against infringers and collect damages for all relevant times. 

26. Franklin has at all applicable times complied with the marking requirements of 35 

U.S.C. § 287(a) with respect to the ’461 Patent.  

FRANKLIN AND THE BINARY® AND BINARY FIRING SYSTEM® MARKS 

27. Franklin coined its new invention as a “Binary” trigger, and filed and obtained 

several federally registered trademarks to market products embodying its inventions, including 

those claimed by the ’461 Patent.  Specifically, FAHI is the owner of U.S. Trademark 

Registration No. 6,272,568 for the word mark “BINARY” covering the following goods and 

services in IC 013 for “Firearms; Component parts for guns; Triggers for firearms” (the “Binary® 

Mark”).  Franklin first used the Binary® Mark in January 2015 and first used that mark in 

commerce in December 2015, and has continuously used the Binary® Mark since that time. 

28. FAHI is also the owner of U.S. Trademark Registration No. 6,293,943 for the 

word mark “BINARY FIRING SYSTEM” covering the following goods and services in IC 013 

for “Component parts for guns” (the “Binary Firing System® Mark”).  Franklin first used the 

Binary Firing System® Mark in January 2015 and first used that mark in commerce in September 

2015, and has continuously used the Binary Firing System® Mark since that time. 

29. FAI has an exclusive license from FAHI for the Binary® Mark and Binary Firing 

System® Mark (collectively the “Franklin Marks”) to use these marks in the sales, marketing and 

promotion of at least eleven (11) different pull-release trigger variants.  Two of these variations 

are the Franklin Armory® BFSIII® AR-C1 and Franklin Armory® BFSIII® AR-S1 for civilian 

legal AR-15 pattern rifles, which directly compete with Defendants’ FOPAR pull-release trigger 

group.  
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30. Franklin has spent considerable effort and investment in the Franklin Marks, 

which, as a result, have become widely known and are closely identified with Franklin and 

represent substantial, valuable goodwill.  

DEFENDANTS INFRINGE THE FRANKLIN MARKS 

31. In or about August 2022, Franklin learned that Unk’s Guns was infringing the 

Franklin Marks where it was advertising and offering to sell “Binary Triggers” at a large gun 

show in Reno, Nevada.  Franklin also subsequently learned that Unk’s Guns was infringing the 

Franklin Marks via its website by advertising and offering to sell the same on its website.  See, 

e.g., https://web.archive.org/web/20220908014958/https://unksguns.com/ and 

https://web.archive.org/web/20220908015008/https://unksguns.com/ba-dass-page.  At that time, 

the products using that name were two-position trigger groups for AR-15 pattern firearms that 

only had a two-position selector consisting of two function modes: “safe” and pull-release fire.    

32. On August 19, 2022, Franklin contacted Defendant Kipfmiller informing him that 

it held federal registrations for the Franklin Mark and objecting to Unk’s Gun’s infringement 

thereof.  During that call, Defendant Kipfmiller claimed that Unk’s Guns expressed a willingness 

to abandon use of “Binary Triggers.”   

33. Rather than ceasing the infringement and despite being on notice of Franklin’s 

federally registered marks for the same class of goods, Unk’s Guns filed a federal trademark 

application for “BINARY TRIGGER” on or about August 19, 2022.  In doing so, Defendant 

Kipfmiller made a false statement to the USPTO by swearing in a declaration for that application, 

under penalty of perjury, that  

[t]o the best of the signatory's knowledge and belief, no other persons, except, 
if applicable, concurrent users, have the right to use the mark in commerce, 
either in the identical form or in such near resemblance as to be likely, when 
used on or in connection with the goods/services of such other persons, to 
cause confusion or mistake, or to deceive. 

34. On or about August 22, 2022, Defendant Kipfmiller formed NBSA.  Franklin is 

informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that NBSA was conceived and formed by 

Defendant Kipfmiller as a device to avoid person liability for infringement of Franklin’s 

intellectual property. 
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35. On or about September 15, 2022, Franklin sent a cease and deist letter to Unk’s 

Guns demanding that it cease infringing the Franklin Marks.  A true and correct copy of this 

September 15, 2022, letter is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

36. Despite receiving this letter, Unk’s Guns knowingly and willfully continued to 

infringe the Franklin Marks by using various misspellings of “binary” in conjunction with 

promoting its pull-release fire trigger and deceived the USPTO by not immediately abandoning 

the pending application for “BINARY TRIGGER.”  Consequently, on or about October 12, 2022, 

Franklin sent a second cease and desist letter.  A true and correct copy of this October 12, 2022, 

letter is attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

37. It was only after receiving that second letter that Unk’s Guns attempted to clean up 

and cease using the Franklin Marks on its website.  However, it failed to take affirmative steps to 

abandon its fraudulent trademark application.  Rather, it was not until the USPTO initiated an 

office action, finding that the registration of “BINARY TRIGGER” was improper in light of the 

Franklin Marks, and Defendant Kipfmiller’s failure to respond thereto, that the application was 

deemed abandoned by the USPTO. 

DEFENDANTS INFRINGE THE ‘461 PATENT 

38. While Unk’s Guns seemingly removed its infringing uses of the Franklin Marks 

from its website, it continued to demonstrate an intentional disdain for Franklin’s intellectual 

property rights. 

39. On information and belief, as early as November 2, 2023, Defendants began to 

make, use, sell and/or offer for sale a “New 3 POSITION SAFE-SEMI-FOPAR” trigger group, 

which substantially infringes the ’461 Patent.  See, e.g., Exhibit B.  In particular, this FOPAR 

trigger group utilized a three-position selector that included a safe/no fire position, a semi-

automatic fire position, and a “fire on pull and release” position.  See id.; see also Exhibit C 

(“WE OFFER 2 SEPARATE STYLES OF FIRE ON PULL AND RELEASE TRIGGERS. …. 

THE NEWEST IS THE 3 POSITION TRIGGER: POSITION 1=SAFE, POSITION 2= 

STANDARD SEMI AUTOMATIC FIRE, POSITION 3= FIRE ON PULL AND RELEASE.”) 

/ / / 
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40. On information and belief, Defendant began making and using the three-position 

FOPAR trigger group at some point months or years prior to November 2, 2023, and has 

continued doing so to the present. 

41. Defendants have offered and sold their three-position FOPAR trigger group 

preinstalled in an AR-15 pattern lower receiver or as a kit for customers to install in their own 

AR-15 pattern firearms through their https://unksguns.com/ and https://nobsaccessories.com/ 

websites, and continue to do so through the present.  See, e.g., Exhibits B–C. 

42. Defendants’ websites provide the following instructions to customers on how to 

install the three-position FOPAR trigger group kit: 

See Exhibits B–C. 

43. In addition, Defendants’ websites provide videos instructing customers on how to 

install the three-position FOPAR trigger group kits in AR-15 pattern firearms.  Defendants also 

make these instruction videos publicly available at www.vimeo.com. 
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44. On information and belief, Defendants market their three-position FOPAR trigger 

group to compete directly with Franklin’s products in the market for trigger systems with pull-

release firing capabilities.  As an example, Defendants’ website, www.unksguns.com, includes 

the following statements: “‘Fire on Pull and Release’ (West Coast Call ‘Em Binary The Correct 

Name is FOPAR)” and “Fires On Pull And Release (FOPAR) … For A Whole Lot Less Than 

‘Those Guys’. So I said So-Long and Good-Bye to Narry!” (emphasis added).  See Exhibit B.   

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Direct Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,393,461) 

45. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 44 are incorporated by reference herein and 

realleged. 

46. Defendants have directly infringed and continue to directly infringe at least claims 

1, 3, 5, 7 and 8 of the ’461 Patent by making, using, offering to sell, and selling completed versions 

of the three-position FOPAR trigger group.  For example, claim 1 of the ’461 Patent recites: 

1. A trigger group for a firearm, the trigger group comprising: 

a hammer movable between a cocked position and a striking 
position; 

the hammer being biased toward the striking position; 

the hammer having a first hammer hook; 

the hammer having a second hammer hook; 

a trigger element movable by a user between a rest position and an 
actuated position; 

a movable sear responsive to movement of the trigger element and 
operable to engage the first hammer hook to restrain the hammer in 
the cocked position when the trigger element is in the rest position, 
and in response to pulling the trigger element to the actuated 
position to release the hammer to the striking position to discharge 
the firearm; 

a selector movable between at least a first position, a second 
position, and a third position; 

a disconnector assembly operably connected to the selector and 
comprising a plurality of disconnector hooks configured to 
selectably engage the second hammer hook; 

the disconnector assembly operable when the selector is in the first 
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position to retain the hammer in the cocked position in response to 
release of the trigger element to the rest position subsequent to 
discharge of the firearm by pulling the trigger element, by 
engagement of the second hammer hook with one of the plurality of 
disconnector hooks; 

the disconnector assembly operable when the selector is in the 
second position to release the hammer to the striking position in 
response to release of the trigger element to the rest position 
subsequent to discharge of the firearm by pulling the trigger 
element, by release of the second hammer hook by another one of 
the plurality of disconnector hooks, such that the firearm discharges 
once per cycle of the trigger element when the selector is in the first 
position, and twice for each rearward-forward motion sequence of 
the trigger element when the selector is in the second position; 

the selector operating when in the third position to prevent 
discharge of the firearm in response to an application of force on 
the trigger element; and 

wherein the selector is rotatable about a single axis. 

Exhibit D, at claim 1.   

47. By making, using, selling, and/or offering to sell the three-position FOPAR trigger 

group, Defendants directly infringe each and every element of claim 1, either directly or by 

equivalence, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). 

48. Franklin is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that the Defendants 

have wrongfully gained profits by virtue of their infringement of the ’461 Patent. 

49. Franklin has sustained damages as a direct and proximate result of the Defendants’ 

direct infringement of the ’461 Patent.  The Defendants are, thus, liable to Franklin in an amount 

that adequately compensates Franklin for the Defendants’ infringement, which, by law, cannot be 

less than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs as fixed by this Court under 35 

U.S.C. § 284. 

50. Defendants’ infringement of the ’461 Patent has been and continues to be 

intentional, willful, and without regard to Franklin’s rights.  Defendants have gained actual 

knowledge of the ’461 Patent and their infringement thereof through the filing of this Complaint. 

51. Defendants’ infringement of the ’461 Patent has caused, and continues to cause, 

irreparable harm to Franklin for which there is no adequate remedy at law.  For example, if 

Defendants’ infringement is allowed to continue, Franklin will—on information and belief—be 
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forced to compete in the pull-release fire trigger market against a cheaper, and in some states an 

illegal product, which could harm Franklin’s business and reputation to an extent that is not 

possible to fully quantify.  Further, on information and belief, licensing the Defendants to practice 

the ’461 Patent in exchange for a royalty would exacerbate this harm by associating Franklin’s 

brand with the potentially illegal three-position FOPAR trigger group. 

52. On information and belief, Defendants will continue their infringing conduct and 

will continue to cause irreparable harm to Franklin unless and until they are enjoined from doing 

so by this Court. 

53. On information and belief, Defendants’ direct infringement of the ’461 Patent was 

and is willful and deliberate, entitling Franklin to enhanced damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284 and 

attorneys’ fees and non-taxable costs under 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

(Indirect Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 10,393,461) 

54. The allegations of paragraphs 1 through 53 are incorporated by reference herein 

and realleged. 

55. Defendants have actively induced others to infringe the ’461 Patent in violation of 

35 U.S.C. § 271(b), and continue to do so.  As explained above, Defendants offer to sell and sell 

the three-position FOPAR trigger group in kit form.  In doing so, Defendants advertise the 

trigger’s pull-release firing capabilities.  The Defendants induce their customers to directly 

infringe at least claims 1, 3, 5, 7 and 8 of the ’461 Patent by, for example, providing written and 

video instructions directing customers on how to install the three-position FOPAR trigger group 

into a firearm.  See, e.g., Exhibits B–C. 

56. Upon information and belief, Defendants knew or should have known that these 

activities would cause its customers to directly infringe the ’461 Patent.  

57. The Defendants’ acts also constitute contributory infringement of at least claims 1, 

3, 5, 7 and 8 of the ’461 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).  Specifically, upon information 

and belief, the three-position FOPAR trigger group: (a) constitutes a material component of the 

trigger group covered by the claims of the ’461 Patent; (b) is specially adapted for use in the 
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infringing system, as known by Defendants; and (c) is not a staple article or commodity of 

commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing uses.  Further, upon information and belief, 

Defendants’ actual and potential customers would not purchase the three-position FOPAR trigger 

group, which costs many times more than a standard semi-automatic trigger, unless they intended 

to take advantage of its advertised infringing pull-release firing functionality. 

58. Upon information and belief, most if not all of Defendants’ customers install the 

three-position FOPAR trigger group as directed by Defendants and use it within firearms in the 

United States, thereby directly infringing the asserted claims of the ’461 Patent.  Defendants 

knew or should have known that their offer to sell and sale of the three-position FOPAR trigger 

group would constitute an act of indirect infringement.  

59. Franklin is informed and believes, and on that basis alleges, that Defendants have 

wrongfully gained profits by virtue of their indirect infringement of the ’461 Patent. 

60. The aforementioned acts of infringement by Defendants and their customers have 

caused damages to Franklin.  Defendants are therefore liable to Franklin in an amount that 

adequately compensates Franklin for Defendants’ infringement, which, by law, cannot be less 

than a reasonable royalty, together with interest and costs as fixed by this Court under 35 U.S.C. § 

284. 

61. Defendants’ indirect infringement of the ’461 Patent has caused, and continues to 

cause, irreparable harm to Franklin for which there is no adequate remedy at law.  For example, if 

the Defendants’ infringement is allowed to continue, Franklin will—on information and belief—

be forced to compete in the pull-release fire trigger market against a cheaper, and in some states 

an illegal product, which could harm Franklin’s business and reputation to an extent that is not 

possible to fully quantify.  Further, on information and belief, licensing the Defendants to practice 

the ’461 Patent in exchange for a royalty would exacerbate this harm by associating Franklin’s 

brand with the potentially illegal and infringing pull-release triggers. 

62. On information and belief, Defendants will continue their infringing conduct and 

will continue to cause irreparable harm to Franklin unless and until they are enjoined from doing 

so by this Court. 
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63. On information and belief, Defendants’ indirect infringement of the ’461 Patent 

was and is willful and deliberate, entitling Franklin to enhanced damages under 35 U.S.C. § 284 

and attorneys’ fees and non-taxable costs under 35 U.S.C. § 285. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Franklin prays for the following relief: 

1. A judgment that Defendant has infringed the ’461 Patent, actively induced 

infringement of the ’461 Patent and contributorily infringed the ’461 Patent, in violation of 35 

U.S.C. § 271(a), (b) and (c); 

2. An order and judgment permanently enjoining Defendant, and any officers, 

directors, agents, servants, employees, affiliates, attorneys, and all others acting in privity or in 

concert with them, from infringing, contributing to the infringement of, and/or inducing 

infringement of the ’461 Patent; 

3. A judgment awarding Franklin all damages adequate to compensate it for 

Defendants’ infringement, and in no event less than a reasonable royalty for the Defendants’ acts 

of infringement, including all pre-judgment and post-judgment interest at the maximum rate 

permitted by law; 

4. An accounting for any infringing sales not presented at trial and an award by the 

Court of additional damages for any such infringing sales; 

5. A judgment awarding Franklin all damages, including treble damages, based on 

any infringement found to be willful, pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

6. A judgment that this is an exceptional case and an award to Franklin of its costs 

and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in this action, as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 285; and 

7. Awarding such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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Dated:  July 30, 2024 SPENCER FANE LLP

By: /s/ Mary E. Bacon 
Jeffrey M. Ratinoff (has complied with LR 
IA 11-2) 
Jing H. Cherng (has complied with LR IA 
11-2) 
Mary E. Bacon, NV Bar No. 12686 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs, 
FRANKLIN ARMORY INC. and 
FRANKLIN ARMORY HOLDINGS INC.
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiffs Franklin Armory Holdings Inc. and Franklin Armory Inc. demands a trial by 

jury on all issues triable by a jury. 

Dated:  July 30, 2024 SPENCER FANE LLP 

By: /s/ Mary E. Bacon 
Jeffrey M. Ratinoff (has complied with LR 
IA 11-2) 
Jing H. Cherng (has complied with LR IA 
11-2) 
Mary E. Bacon, NV Bar No. 12686 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
FRANKLIN ARMORY INC. and 
FRANKLIN ARMORY HOLDINGS INC.
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STATE OF GEORGIA
Secretary of State

Corporations Division 
313 West Tower 

2 Martin Luther King, Jr. Dr.
Atlanta, Georgia 30334-1530 

ANNUAL REGISTRATION *Electronically Filed* 
Secretary of State
Filing Date: 2/18/2024 2:39:46 PM

BUSINESS INFORMATION

CONTROL NUMBER 22183080

BUSINESS NAME No B.S. Accessories Co.

BUSINESS TYPE Domestic Profit Corporation

EFFECTIVE DATE 02/18/2024

ANNUAL REGISTRATION PERIOD 2024

PRINCIPAL OFFICE ADDRESS

ADDRESS 94 Oakwood Dr., Dahlonega, GA, 30533, USA

REGISTERED AGENT

NAME ADDRESS COUNTY

Rick Kipfmiller 94 Oakwood Dr., Dahlonega, GA, 30533, USA Lumpkin

OFFICERS INFORMATION

NAME TITLE ADDRESS

Jason Kipfmiller SECRETARY 94 Oakwood Dr, Dahlonega, GA, 30533, USA

Ricky Kipfmiller CEO 94 Oakwood Dr, Dahlonega, GA, 30533, USA

Ricky Kipfmiller CFO 94 Oakwood Dr, Dahlonega, GA, 30533, USA

AUTHORIZER INFORMATION

AUTHORIZER SIGNATURE Ricky C Kipfmiller

AUTHORIZER TITLE Officer
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WEWELCOME TO

UNK'S GUNS!

LICENSED F.F.L.

MANUFACTURER CUSTOM

AR15 & AR10

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 1/23
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OUR STAFF

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 2/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 3/23
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LOCATION...

WEWE NOW OFFER COMPUTER ENGRAVING ON

YOU FAVORITE FIREARM! AND WE CAN

POLISH YOUR GLOCK SLIDE TOO!!

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 4/23
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TRIGGER 2 POSITION TRIGGER $149.00!

WHWHOA! A NEW 3 POSITION SAFE-SEMI-

FOPAR $249.00!

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 5/23
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3 POSITION FOPAR FUN!

07:30

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 6/23
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2 POSITION TRIGGER INSTALL VIDEO - SAFE

AND FOPAR ONLY $149.

06:15

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 7/23
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A FOPAR IN ACTION!

04:39

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 8/23
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FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 9/23
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NO B.S. FIRE ON PULL AND FIRE ON

RELEASE TRIGGER

NO B.S. FIRE ON PULL AND FIRE ON

RELEASE TRIGGERS!

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 10/23
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BIG NEWSWS!!

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 11/23
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PARTS PRICE LIST

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 12/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 13/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 14/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 15/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 16/23
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ABOUT US

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 17/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 18/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 19/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 20/23
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770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 21/23
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ABOUT US

770-634-0635

7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 22/23
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7/9/24, 10:57 AM Unk's Guns

https://unksguns.com 23/23
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We are a WHOLESALE ONLY company

If you are looking for retail sales contact us at Unk's Guns

(www.unksguns.com)

Discocounts in BuBulk

FEEL FREE TO CALL US AT 770-

634-4-0635

Contact UsUs

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 1/11
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Drop us a line!

Message

This site is protected by reCAPTCHA and the Google Privacy Policy and Terms of Service apply.

CALL BEFORE YOU SHOW UP!

WE ARE A WHOLESALE COMPANY, AND DO NOT KEEP RETAIL HOURS

No B.S. Accessories

94 Oakwood Drive, Dahlonega, Georgia 30533, United States

rkipfm@gmail.com

Name

Email*

SEND

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 2/11
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FITS ALL CALIBERS AR15/AR10 WIWITH A MIL SPEC

TRIGGER GROUPUP

THTHIS IS THTHE ORIGINAL 2 POSITION FOPAR.

$149.00 ($1.00 shipping)

WE OFFER 2 SEPARATE STYLES OF FIRE ON PULL AND RELEASE TRIGGERS. THE 2

POSITION TRIGGER: POSITION1=SAFE

POSITION 2=FIRE ON PULL AND RELEASE. 

AND THE NEWEST IS THE 3 POSITION TRIGGER: POSITION 1=SAFE, POSITION 2=

STSTANDARD SEMI AUTOMATIC FIRE, POSITION 3= FIRE ON PULL AND RELEASE.

BUY NOW

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 3/11
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FITSTS ALL CALIBERS AR15/AR10 WITHTH A MIL SPEC TRTRIGGER

GROUP

$250.00

THIS IS THE NEW 3 POSITION FOPAR.

NEW 3 POSITION & PREMIUMUM 2 POSITION

FOPAR TRIGGER INSTALL

EASY PEASY INSTALLS IN MINUTES

BUY NOW

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 4/11
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3 POSITION FIRE ON PULULL AND RELEASE

Check out this great video

06:15

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 5/11
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ORIGINAL 2 POSITION FOPAR TRIGGER INSTALL

INSTALLED AND WORKING IN LESS THAN 5 MINUTES

07:30

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 6/11
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FOPAR TRIGGER IN ACTION!

FUN, FUN, FUN!

04:39

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 7/11
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2 POSITION OWNWNERS MANUAUAL & INSTALL

INSTRUCTIONS

FOPAR COMBINATION VID

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 8/11
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7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 9/11
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COMING SOON!

COPYRIGHT © 2024 NO B.S. ACCESSORIES - ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

POWERED BY GODADDY

OOOH!... WE ARE WORKING ON THE GLOCK FOPAR AGAIN!!

We will be updating the website soon!

7/9/24, 10:56 AM No B.S. Accessories

https://nobsaccessories.com 11/11
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Jeffrey M. Ratinoff
jratinoff@hopkinscarley.com

T. 408.299.1336
F. 408.938.6261

Palo Alto  "  San Francisco  "  San Jose 

Hopkins & Carley  "  A Law Corporation  "  hopkinscarley.com 

San Jose

70 South First Street 

San Jose, CA  95113 

T. 408.286.9800

F. 408.998.4790

September 15, 2022 

Via E-Mail and Certified U.S. Mail (rkipfm@gmail.com) 

Ricky Kipfmiller 
Unk’s Guns 
94 Oakwood Dr.
Dahlonega, GA 30533-5889

https://unksguns.com/

Re: Notice of Violation of Franklin Armory’s Intellectual Property Rights 
by Unk’s Guns Demand for Immediate Cease & Desist 

Dear Mr. Kipfmiller: 

This law firm represents Franklin Armory, Inc. and Franklin Armory Holdings, Inc. 
(collectively, “Franklin”) in the protection of their intellectual property rights.  Franklin has 
spent a considerable amount of time and money developing and protecting its patent and 
trademark rights related to its pull-release trigger products.   

U.S. Trademark Registration Nos. 6,272,568 and No. 6,293,943 

This letter provides notice of Unk’s Guns’ infringement of U.S. Trademark Registration 
No. 6,272,568 for the word mark “BINARY” and U.S. Trademark Registration No. 
6,293,943 for the word mark “BINARY FIRING SYSTEM” (collectively “the Binary® 
Marks”).  Franklin has invested a substantial amount of money in the advertising and 
promotion of its pull-release triggers that it sells using the Binary® Marks.  As a result, 
the Binary® Marks have generated substantial goodwill and market-recognition for 
Franklin’s unique and innovative products. 

Unk’s Guns’ initial use of “Binary Triggers” as a product constituted infringement of the 
Binary® Marks.  As you know, our client contacted you and your company on August 19, 
2022 to object to this unauthorized use of the Binary® Marks.  Within hours of that 
telephone call, in which you expressed a willingness to abandon use of the designation 
“Binary Triggers,” it appears that you proceeded to file a U.S. federal trademark 
application in your own name for BINARY TRIGGER.  See, U.S. Serial No. 97556690. 
You further signed a declaration for that application, under penalty of perjury, that “To the 
best of the signatory's knowledge and belief, no other persons, except, if applicable, 
concurrent users, have the right to use the mark in commerce, either in the identical form 
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or in such near resemblance as to be likely, when used on or in connection with the 
goods/services of such other persons, to cause confusion or mistake, or to deceive.” 

After your company refused to take steps to stop its infringement, Franklin set a deadline.  
Unk’s Guns’ response was not to comply with Franklin’s request.  Instead, Unk’s Guns 
changed one letter in the Binary® Marks and began using the phonetic equivalent, 
Bynary.  That minor spelling change does not mitigate Unk’s Guns’ violation of the 
Lanham Act.  Federal courts recognize that such changes are immaterial and that the 
marks are still confusingly similar for consumers.  For example, “Dreamwerks” was still 
confusingly similar to the registered mark “DreamWorks” despite utilizing different spelling 
and capitalization. Dreamwerks Production Group, Inc. v. SKG Studio, 142 F.3d 1127, 
1130 (9th Cir. 1998).  “[T]he obvious ‘perfect similarity of sound’ and ‘similarity of 
meaning’…[and] even the similarity of sight also weighed in favor of a finding of similarity, 
as consumers ‘might shrug off the difference in spelling and capitalization as an 
intentional modification.’” Wreal, LLC v. Amazon.com, Inc., 38 F.4th 114, 132 (11th Cir. 
2022) (citing same).  Your actions, both in filing the trademark application and in then 
changing a single letter in the mark, do, however, underscore your bad faith and intent to 
infringe Franklin’s trademark rights. 

Unk’s Guns’ and your use of a competitor’s registered mark in the promotion of a 
competing product constitutes trademark infringement under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1) and 
unfair competition under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  Consequently, Unk’s Guns and you must 
immediately:  

� Cease all uses of the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” 
in association with the marketing, sale, distribution, or identification of any 
products and/or services. 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” from all 
product packaging, videos, promotional materials and instructions on the 
manufacturing of these products. 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” from all 
webpages that you and/or Unk’s Guns owns or controls, including at 
https://unksguns.com/ and from any relevant search engine sites (such as, 
Google – *AdWords); 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” from all 
social media accounts that you and/or Unk’s Guns owns or controls, including 
but not limited to YouTube, Facebook, and Instagram. 

� Destroy all printed materials and packaging with the infringing mark displayed 
thereon. 
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� Expressly abandon with prejudice the application under Serial No. 97556690,
and provide proof of the same.

We trust that Unk’s Guns and you still have an interest in preventing any possibility of 
consumer confusion, did not intend to mislead or deceive the USPTO, and that you will 
work with Franklin to resolve the foregoing.  Thus, we ask that you individually and an 
authorized agent of Unk’s Guns countersign and date this letter where indicated below 
confirming that each agree to undertake these remedial measures within ten 
(10) business days from the date of this letter.  We also ask that you and Unk’s Guns
furnish adequate proof and certify in writing that both have completed the foregoing and
ceased the use of the Binary® Marks and abandoned the application.

* * *

This letter constitutes notice of Franklin’s legal rights and is written without waiver of any 
rights and remedies that Franklin may assert to protect its intellectual property, reputation 
and business interests if an amicable business solution cannot be reached.   

If you have already engaged counsel with regard to these issues, please provide contact 
information for your attorney so that we can deal with him or her directly.  Otherwise, 
please contact me using the contact information provided above if you have any questions 
or wish to further discuss any of the foregoing. 

Sincerely, 

HOPKINS & CARLEY 
A Law Corporation 

Jeffrey M. Ratinoff 

JMR/cwt 

Agreed and Accepted: 

_____________________________________ 
By:   

Title:   

Company: Unk’s Guns 

Date: 

Agreed and Accepted: 

_____________________________ 
By:  Ricky Kipfmiller 

Date: 
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San Jose

70 South First Street 

San Jose, CA  95113 

T. 408.286.9800 

F. 408.998.4790 

October 12, 2022 

Via E-Mail and Certified U.S. Mail (rkipfm@gmail.com) 

Ricky Kipfmiller 
Unk’s Guns 
94 Oakwood Dr. 
Dahlonega, GA 30533-5889 
https://unksguns.com/

Re: Second Notice of Violation of Franklin Armory’s Intellectual Property 
Rights by Unk’s Guns Demand for Immediate Cease & Desist 

Dear Mr. Kipfmiller: 

We previously sent you a cease and desist letter on September 15, 2022 (copy attached.)  
Although we had set a September 29, 2022 deadline, you did not respond to our letter.  
However, it appears that some changes were made to Unk’s Guns’ website 
(https://unksguns.com/) and subpages based on our prior demands.  These changes fall 
short of addressing the issues raised in the September 15th letter, and as a result, Unk’s 
Guns continues to infringe on Franklin’s trademark rights, including, U.S. Trademark 
Registration No. 6,272,568 for the word mark “BINARY” and U.S. Trademark Registration 
No. 6,293,943 for the word mark “BINARY FIRING SYSTEM” (collectively “the Binary® 
Marks”).  This includes the following continuing and new infringement of those marks: 

1. “BYE-NARRY TRIGGER” on https://unksguns.com/; 

2. “Binary Trigger” referred to in the 4:40 video entitled “Trigger Installation Video” on 
https://unksguns.com/; 

3. “BYNARY TRIGGERS” on https://unksguns.com/ba-dass-page;  

4. “BINARISTIC TRIGGER”, “BINARISTIC TRIGGERS”, “BYNARY TRIGGER”, 
“Binarry”, “Bynary Trigger”, “BYNARY”, “Bynary fire”, “binary round”, “BYNARY 
HAPPINESS” in the Owners’ Manual on https://unksguns.com/ba-dass-page; and  

5. “Bynary trigger”, “Bynary kit” in the Installation Instructions on 
https://unksguns.com/ba-dass-page.  
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This letter provides further notice of Unk’s Guns’ continued intentional and bad-faith 
infringement of the Binary® Marks.  Franklin has invested a substantial amount of money 
in the advertising and promotion of its pull-release triggers that it sells using the Binary® 
Marks.  As a result, the Binary® Marks have generated substantial goodwill and market-
recognition for Franklin’s unique and innovative products. 

As we have previously explained, Unk’s Guns’ initial use of “Binary Triggers” as a product 
constituted infringement of the Binary® Marks.  As you know, our client contacted you 
and your company on August 19, 2022 to object to this unauthorized use of the Binary® 
Marks.  Within hours of that telephone call, in which you expressed a willingness to 
abandon use of the designation “Binary Triggers,” it appears that you proceeded to file a 
U.S. federal trademark application in your own name for BINARY TRIGGER (Serial No. 
97556690).  Since first receiving notice of Franklin’s objections, your company has 
refused to stop its infringing conduct.  Instead, Unk’s Guns has repeatedly flouted 
Franklin’s trademark rights and taken steps to continue and expand its efforts to trade on 
Franklin’s goodwill and reputation.  All of your actions to date only underscore your bad 
faith and intent to infringe Franklin’s trademark rights. 

After we sent our first cease & desist letter on September 15, 2022, Unk’s Guns did not 
immediately remove all infringing material from its website.  Instead, Unk’s Guns made 
further minor spelling changes like “Bye-narry”, “Binaristic”, and “Binarry”.  Further, 
“Bynary” is still found in multiple places on the website.  Again, minor spelling changes 
do not mitigate Unk’s Guns’ intentional infringement of the Binary® Marks and 
violation of the Lanham Act.   

Unk’s Guns’ use of a competitor’s registered mark in the promotion of a competing 
product constitutes trademark infringement under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1) and unfair 
competition under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  Consequently, Unk’s Guns must immediately:  

� Cease all uses of the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary”, “Bynary”, 
“Bye-narry”, “Binaristic”, and “Binarry” in association with the marketing, sale, 
distribution, or identification of any products and/or services. 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary”, “Bynary”, “Bye-
narry”, “Binaristic”, and “Binarry” from all product packaging, videos, 
promotional materials and instructions on the manufacturing of these products. 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary”, “Bynary”, “Bye-
narry”, “Binaristic”, and “Binarry” from all webpages that you and/or Unk’s Guns 
owns or controls, including at https://unksguns.com/ and from any relevant 
search engine sites (such as, Google – *AdWords); 
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� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary”, “Bynary”, “Bye-
narry”, “Binaristic”, and “Binarry” from all social media accounts that you and/or
Unk’s Guns owns or controls, including but not limited to YouTube, Facebook,
and Instagram.

� Destroy all printed materials and packaging with the infringing mark displayed
thereon.

� Expressly abandon with prejudice the application under Serial No. 97556690,
and provide proof of the same.

If Unk’s Guns did not intend to create consumer confusion, to file a deceptive trademark 
application, or to infringe Franklin’s established trademark rights, we trust that you will 
work with Franklin to resolve the foregoing.  In that spirit, we again ask that Unk’s Guns 
agree to undertake these remedial measures within seven (7) business days from the 
date of this letter.  We also ask that you and Unk’s Guns furnish adequate proof and 
certify in writing that both have completed the foregoing, permanently ceased all use of 
the Binary® Marks (and any similar designations), and abandoned the application.  If you 
and your company refuse to promptly take all of these steps, we will have no choice but 
to recommend to our client that they take appropriate action to protect its rights. 

* * *

This letter constitutes notice of Franklin’s legal rights and is written without waiver of any 
rights and remedies that Franklin may assert to protect its intellectual property, reputation 
and business interests if an amicable business solution cannot be reached.   

If you have already engaged counsel with regard to these issues, please provide contact 
information for your attorney so that we can deal with him or her directly.  Otherwise, 
please contact me using the contact information provided above if you have any questions 
or wish to further discuss any of the foregoing. 

Sincerely, 

HOPKINS & CARLEY 
A Law Corporation 

Jeffrey M. Ratinoff 

JMR/cwt 
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Hopkins & Carley  "  A Law Corporation  "  hopkinscarley.com 

San Jose

70 South First Street 

San Jose, CA  95113 

T. 408.286.9800

F. 408.998.4790

September 15, 2022 

Via E-Mail and Certified U.S. Mail (rkipfm@gmail.com) 

Ricky Kipfmiller 
Unk’s Guns 
94 Oakwood Dr.
Dahlonega, GA 30533-5889

https://unksguns.com/

Re: Notice of Violation of Franklin Armory’s Intellectual Property Rights 
by Unk’s Guns Demand for Immediate Cease & Desist 

Dear Mr. Kipfmiller: 

This law firm represents Franklin Armory, Inc. and Franklin Armory Holdings, Inc. 
(collectively, “Franklin”) in the protection of their intellectual property rights.  Franklin has 
spent a considerable amount of time and money developing and protecting its patent and 
trademark rights related to its pull-release trigger products.   

U.S. Trademark Registration Nos. 6,272,568 and No. 6,293,943 

This letter provides notice of Unk’s Guns’ infringement of U.S. Trademark Registration 
No. 6,272,568 for the word mark “BINARY” and U.S. Trademark Registration No. 
6,293,943 for the word mark “BINARY FIRING SYSTEM” (collectively “the Binary® 
Marks”).  Franklin has invested a substantial amount of money in the advertising and 
promotion of its pull-release triggers that it sells using the Binary® Marks.  As a result, 
the Binary® Marks have generated substantial goodwill and market-recognition for 
Franklin’s unique and innovative products. 

Unk’s Guns’ initial use of “Binary Triggers” as a product constituted infringement of the 
Binary® Marks.  As you know, our client contacted you and your company on August 19, 
2022 to object to this unauthorized use of the Binary® Marks.  Within hours of that 
telephone call, in which you expressed a willingness to abandon use of the designation 
“Binary Triggers,” it appears that you proceeded to file a U.S. federal trademark 
application in your own name for BINARY TRIGGER.  See, U.S. Serial No. 97556690. 
You further signed a declaration for that application, under penalty of perjury, that “To the 
best of the signatory's knowledge and belief, no other persons, except, if applicable, 
concurrent users, have the right to use the mark in commerce, either in the identical form 
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or in such near resemblance as to be likely, when used on or in connection with the 
goods/services of such other persons, to cause confusion or mistake, or to deceive.” 

After your company refused to take steps to stop its infringement, Franklin set a deadline.  
Unk’s Guns’ response was not to comply with Franklin’s request.  Instead, Unk’s Guns 
changed one letter in the Binary® Marks and began using the phonetic equivalent, 
Bynary.  That minor spelling change does not mitigate Unk’s Guns’ violation of the 
Lanham Act.  Federal courts recognize that such changes are immaterial and that the 
marks are still confusingly similar for consumers.  For example, “Dreamwerks” was still 
confusingly similar to the registered mark “DreamWorks” despite utilizing different spelling 
and capitalization. Dreamwerks Production Group, Inc. v. SKG Studio, 142 F.3d 1127, 
1130 (9th Cir. 1998).  “[T]he obvious ‘perfect similarity of sound’ and ‘similarity of 
meaning’…[and] even the similarity of sight also weighed in favor of a finding of similarity, 
as consumers ‘might shrug off the difference in spelling and capitalization as an 
intentional modification.’” Wreal, LLC v. Amazon.com, Inc., 38 F.4th 114, 132 (11th Cir. 
2022) (citing same).  Your actions, both in filing the trademark application and in then 
changing a single letter in the mark, do, however, underscore your bad faith and intent to 
infringe Franklin’s trademark rights. 

Unk’s Guns’ and your use of a competitor’s registered mark in the promotion of a 
competing product constitutes trademark infringement under 15 U.S.C. § 1114(1) and 
unfair competition under 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a).  Consequently, Unk’s Guns and you must 
immediately:  

� Cease all uses of the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” 
in association with the marketing, sale, distribution, or identification of any 
products and/or services. 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” from all 
product packaging, videos, promotional materials and instructions on the 
manufacturing of these products. 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” from all 
webpages that you and/or Unk’s Guns owns or controls, including at 
https://unksguns.com/ and from any relevant search engine sites (such as, 
Google – *AdWords); 

� Remove the Binary® Marks, including the terms “Binary” and “Bynary,” from all 
social media accounts that you and/or Unk’s Guns owns or controls, including 
but not limited to YouTube, Facebook, and Instagram. 

� Destroy all printed materials and packaging with the infringing mark displayed 
thereon. 
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� Expressly abandon with prejudice the application under Serial No. 97556690,
and provide proof of the same.

We trust that Unk’s Guns and you still have an interest in preventing any possibility of 
consumer confusion, did not intend to mislead or deceive the USPTO, and that you will 
work with Franklin to resolve the foregoing.  Thus, we ask that you individually and an 
authorized agent of Unk’s Guns countersign and date this letter where indicated below 
confirming that each agree to undertake these remedial measures within ten 
(10) business days from the date of this letter.  We also ask that you and Unk’s Guns
furnish adequate proof and certify in writing that both have completed the foregoing and
ceased the use of the Binary® Marks and abandoned the application.

* * *

This letter constitutes notice of Franklin’s legal rights and is written without waiver of any 
rights and remedies that Franklin may assert to protect its intellectual property, reputation 
and business interests if an amicable business solution cannot be reached.   

If you have already engaged counsel with regard to these issues, please provide contact 
information for your attorney so that we can deal with him or her directly.  Otherwise, 
please contact me using the contact information provided above if you have any questions 
or wish to further discuss any of the foregoing. 

Sincerely, 

HOPKINS & CARLEY 
A Law Corporation 

Jeffrey M. Ratinoff 

JMR/cwt 

Agreed and Accepted: 

_____________________________________ 
By:   

Title:   

Company: Unk’s Guns 

Date: 

Agreed and Accepted: 

_____________________________ 
By:  Ricky Kipfmiller 

Date: 
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